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Chair Brooks: 
[Roll was called.  Committee rules and protocol were explained.]  Assembly Bill 405 will be 
heard first.  I will be presenting the bill, so Assemblywoman Bustamante Adams will take 
over. 
 
[Assemblywoman Bustamante Adams assumed the Chair.] 
 
Vice Chair Bustamante Adams: 
I will open the hearing on Assembly Bill 405. 
 
Assembly Bill 405:  Establishes certain protections for and ensures the rights of 

a person who uses renewable energy in this State. (BDR 52-959) 
 
Assemblyman Chris Brooks, Assembly District No. 10: 
In the presentation of the bill, I plan to start with a brief overview, and why I think it is 
important, and then walk you through the language section by section.  Before I do that, 
we have a mock-up of the bill with a few simple amendments (Exhibit C). 
 
As we have seen so far this session, there are many important issues to discuss when it comes 
to customers' rights to generate and store energy in the state.  Energy is constantly evolving, 
requiring renewed assessment and focus on energy policy in Nevada.  I am happy to say that 
has already been occurring in this Subcommittee.  We have heard a lot of great legislation 
this session that addresses customers' rights to renewable energy.  Assembly Bill 405 goes 
hand in hand with those other bills, codifying some of those customer rights in Nevada law.  

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017/Bill/5487/Overview/
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Assembly Bill 405 outlines what Nevada customers' fundamental rights around energy 
should be by setting up a framework to protect Nevadans on what could be the biggest 
investment of their lives.  It is especially necessary now as we move forward with new and 
potentially disruptive ways that we access energy in Nevada. 
 
With Assembly Bill 405, we would standardize the presentation of solar contracts and terms, 
making it easier for customers to quickly compare costs and plans for contracts.  We would 
also declare that all Nevadans have the right to generate, consume, and store renewable 
energy, and they would be allowed to connect their systems that generate renewable energy 
with the electricity meter on the customers' side that is provided by an electric utility or any 
other person named and defined in Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) Chapters 704, 704A, 
704B, and 38 in a timely manner and without any unnecessary burdensome or restrictive 
requirement. 
 
The bill would also ensure that Nevadans will have equitable treatment of any energy 
exported to the grid, and it would put in place consumer protections and contracts for 
renewable energy.  It would guarantee certainty of the terms for interconnection and 
treatment of exported energy for the duration of the system.  It would also have the 
generation of renewable energy be a resource of highest priority for the state, giving it 
priority in planning and acquisition of energy resources by electric utilities.  It would 
guarantee that Nevadans have access to community solar.  The bill also states that Nevadans 
would remain within the existing broad rate class regardless of the technologies on the 
customers' side of the electric meter, including without limitation, energy production; energy 
savings; energy consumption; and energy shifting technologies, providing that such 
technologies do not compromise the safety or reliability of the utility grid. 
 
As an early pioneer in Nevada's solar energy industry, I know the experiences that solar 
customers go through.  It is one of the biggest purchases people might make in their lifetime.  
I have had a solar system on my roof for over 15 years, and it was quite an investment.  
Customers are signing a 20-year contract in some cases for very complicated energy 
products, and it is hard to understand exactly what they are being asked to sign.  Nevada has 
a chance to be the country's leader on solar energy.  By creating a more streamlined process 
for customers, we make it that much more friendly to be a solar customer. 
 
There are 26 sections to the bill, and I would like to quickly go through those sections 
(Exhibit D).  Section 1 of the bill states that NRS Chapter 598 is amended by adding the 
provisions set forth in sections 2 through 20.  Sections 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6 have definitions for 
the terms that are used in the bill.  Section 7, subsection 1 defines a power purchase 
agreement as, "A solar installation company:  (a) Arranges for the design, installation, 
maintenance, energy output and displacement standards of a distributed generation system; 
and (b) Sells electricity generated from a distributed generation system to the host customer."  
In Section 7, subsection 2, it also states, "The host customer receives compensation from the 
solar installation company for use of the property of the host customer for the distributed 
generation system." 
 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/CL/ACL666D.pdf
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Section 8 also has some definitions.  Section 9 is the form for the lease.  Sections 9 
through 20 define some consumer protections in leases, power purchase agreements, 
and purchases that consumers are involved in acquiring solar energy systems or renewable 
energy systems for distributed generation.  Those sections come from Solar Electric 
Industries Association (SEIA), which is a trade association that represents most of the 
businesses in this industry that are selling, installing, leasing, and providing power purchase 
agreements for distributed generation systems.  What we have done is addressed some of the 
issues that we have seen, and SEIA has done the same thing with contracts and agreements.  
Sections 9 through 20 will have a brief overview by SEIA as well. 
 
Section 20 provides that any violations of sections 2 through 20 constitute a deceptive trade 
practice.  One of the amendments (Exhibit C) is to remove section 20, subsection 2 that was 
part of SEIA's standard model language for consumer protection.  In talking to some of the 
folks in the industry, consumer advocates, and stakeholders, we felt we needed to remove 
that language so section 20 really had some teeth. 
 
Sections 22 through 26 start defining some of the rights and other things we are trying to 
accomplish.  Section 22 defines "community solar facility" as a shared facility at which 
electricity is generated using renewable energy.  There is at least one other bill that concerns 
community solar [Senate Bill 392].  We want to make sure the language in the successful bill 
that defines community solar will line up with this definition, so there may be a further 
amendment if we see something like that happen through the process. 
 
Section 24 gets into the nine fundamental rights of Nevadans for self-generation or storage of 
energy.  Section 25 states that the Director of the Office of Energy in the Office of the 
Governor will ensure that a pamphlet setting forth the Renewable Energy Bill of Rights is 
prepared in simple, nontechnical terms, and a copy of the pamphlet will be available online at 
the Office of Energy's website and available to any person who makes the request through 
the Office of Energy.  Public libraries in each county of the state will also have pamphlets 
available.  Section 26 makes the act become effective July 1, 2017. 
 
Before I take any questions, I would like to mention another one of the amendments that is in 
the mock-up before you (Exhibit C) regarding the energy storage components.  In section 24 
of the amendment, the red, underlined language clarifies and adds some language around 
energy storage.  Energy storage is going to be a large part of self-generation and load 
shifting, so the peaks can be moved depending on when energy is being used and could be 
part of pricing strategies moving forward that allow consumers to take advantage of the 
lowest priced energy when it is available to offset the most expensively priced energy.  
The language in section 24, subsections 2, 3, and 9, define how that would work in 
conjunction with renewable energy in self-generation systems. 
 
Before SEIA goes on to discuss the consumer protections of the bill, I want to give a little 
background.  When I was campaigning and reaching out to folks about what issues they were 
the most concerned with, solar was a very big part.  It turned out these folks were concerned 
they did not have access to solar and Nevada was not doing enough as a state around solar or 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/CL/ACL666C.pdf
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self-generation.  When I got down to it, many folks just had some really horrible experiences 
with the industry.  Many folks did not get interconnected, had deposits taken from them, 
and had very unclear, or in many cases, deceptive contracts or proposals.  What we are trying 
to do with the consumer protection part of the bill is to protect Nevadans who get involved in 
the industry as customers and address some of the horror stories that I and some of my 
colleagues have heard from our constituents on experiences they had with the industry. 
 
That is a little background as to why there is a need for consumer protections.  I would like to 
turn it over to SEIA to get a little perspective on their model consumer protection language 
that we are looking to adopt. 
 
Sean Gallagher, Vice President of State Affairs, Solar Energy Industries Association, 

Washington, D.C.: 
Solar Energy Industries Association (SEIA) is the national trade association of the U.S. solar 
industry, and our 1,000 member companies are working to make solar part of the mainstream 
of U.S. energy.  We have been working at SEIA for the past two years to ensure consumer 
protection is at the forefront of our industry, and there is a simple reason for that. 
 
Our industry survives based on satisfied customers telling their families, friends, 
and neighbors about their experience.  We do not want the horror stories or the scammers 
who try to attach themselves to any successful industry.  We want to set the bar high for our 
member companies, and we want to provide good information to customers so they are able 
to ask the right questions and get the products they need. 
 
I am going to speak a little bit about our efforts at SEIA over the past two years, and then 
turn to the bill.  We have developed some resources at SEIA designed to safeguard customer 
rights, to provide a forum for members of the press, the government, and other stakeholders 
to access materials that are relevant to consumer protection, and to establish competitive 
guidelines for the solar industry that will enhance consumer protection. 
 
In fact, just today, SEIA announced that we are launching a nationwide consumer education 
campaign to inform and protect solar customers while further simplifying the process 
of going solar.  Building on our efforts over the last two years, we have released a set of 
disclosure forms for each of the three standard types of contracts that customers sign:  lease 
contracts, power purchase agreements, and purchase agreements.  Today, we released 
disclosure forms for each of those types of contracts intended to make residential solar 
transactions easier and clearer for customers. 
 
The disclosures allow customers to understand key terms of their agreements up front; 
to easily compare one offer to another from various companies; and to ask hard questions of 
potential solar providers.  The idea is that solar customers can better understand the 
fundamentals of solar, ask the right questions, compare offers, and know what to expect from 
the solar system over the years because these systems do last for years.  The model forms are  
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available free of charge on our website.  We are promoting it nationwide and encouraging 
both customers as well as companies to use them so there is standard information presented 
across the country.  If you Google SEIA Consumer Protection, you will find that information. 
 
There are a number of products that we have developed over the past couple of years.  There 
is a residential consumer guide to solar power, which is a six-page pamphlet for customers to 
look at.  We have a solar business code that sets out the rules of the road that solar businesses 
are required to follow if they are members of SEIA.  There are model lease and power 
purchase agreement forms that were actually developed at the National Renewable Energy 
Laboratory that have now been vetted and approved by our member companies.  There are 
residential disclosure forms that are the model for some of the language in the bill.  We have 
also established a complaint resolution process.  We have actually handled a couple of 
complaints, and I believe they were satisfied. 
 
Sections 9 through 20 of the bill are based on an earlier draft of our language.  Sections 9 
through 11 have to do with lease contracts.  Sections 12 through 14 have to do with power 
purchase agreements.  Sections 15 through 17 have to do with simple purchase agreements 
where the customer buys the system outright.  For each of those kinds of contracts there are 
three consumer protection products:  a one-page cover sheet that is required by the bill; 
required contract terms; and a three-page disclosure statement that summarizes the essential 
terms of the contract required by the bill.  Each of those three consumer protection products 
is required for each of the three types of contracts. 
 
The language that is required to be on the cover sheet for a lease or a power purchase 
agreement is pretty much the same.  There are some slight differences.  For example, when 
a customer buys a system outright, it is not leased, so there is different language to 
accommodate the different facts. 
 
I am not going to go through every provision in the bill, but I am happy to answer any 
questions.  The provisions are pretty straightforward.  The contracts have to say what the 
term of the contract is and what the price is.  If there are any changes in payments or price 
the customer has to pay, the contract has to say what those changes are and when they are 
going to occur.  It is information like that you would expect a customer to be able to know up 
front.  Our model forms, which I would be happy to provide, are simple enough for 
customers to read, or at least that is the idea. 
 
We are very pleased the Nevada Legislature is willing to work with the industry to produce 
a good consumer protection bill that is actually good for customers and does not present 
obstacles or barriers to going solar. 
 
Vice Chair Bustamante Adams: 
Are there any questions from the members on the definitions in sections 1 through 8?  I think 
the heart of the bill is in sections 9 through 20, but I do not want to skip the previous sections 
if there are questions. 
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Assemblyman Paul Anderson: 
Section 4 defines "distributed generation system."  Is this a definition found anywhere else in 
statute, or is it a common definition?  I recognize we are utilizing some template language 
across the board.  My specific question is for section 4, subsection 2, which states, "That is 
located on the property of a customer of an electric utility."  Please explain that.  Are we 
saying the customer has a private asset and we are telling them how they must use that 
private asset? 
 
Assemblyman Brooks: 
"Distributed generation system" is used throughout the bill.  It already exists in statute in 
NRS Chapter 701B.  Those are the things that define what a distributed generation system is.  
I do not know that we are necessarily telling people what to do with their private asset as 
much as we are defining that the term is based on the five components in section 4, 
subsections 1 through 5. 
 
Vice Chair Bustamante Adams: 
Mr. Keane, can you answer the question about whether "distributed generation system" 
currently exists in statute? 
 
Wil Keane, Committee Counsel: 
The definition of "distributed generation system" is copied from NRS 701B.055. 
 
Assemblyman Paul Anderson: 
Section 7 defines "power purchase agreement."  I assume this is also defined somewhere else 
in statute as well, or is this a different definition specifically related to solar? 
 
Assemblyman Brooks: 
I do not believe "power purchase agreement" is defined in statute.  That is a specific industry 
term that is widely used in the utility business and distributed generation business. 
 
Assemblyman Paul Anderson: 
Can you tell me the benefit of defining it in this way in this particular statute if we have other 
sections that have other definitions for the energy companies?  I realize you are defining it 
and making it clear, but why in an area for consumer protection would we define it versus in 
the statute where distributed generation systems and other definitions reside? 
 
Assemblyman Brooks: 
We could put it in there as well.  This is the first time it shows up in statute.  We are 
specifically addressing consumer protections around a very specific type of product, and we 
are defining what that product is because it does not exist anywhere else in statute.  It might 
make sense for it to exist in NRS Chapter 701B, which are renewable energy statutes.  
The power purchase agreement in this bill is dealing directly with distributed generation, so it 
might not necessarily need to live in NRS Chapter 701B.  We want to define it so we know 
what this very specific product is that we talk about later around what the forms and contracts 
should look like. 
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Assemblyman Paul Anderson: 
I am not suggesting otherwise; I just want to better understand why it was there. 
 
Vice Chair Bustamante Adams: 
Mr. Keane, can you put on the record whether "power purchase agreement" is defined 
anywhere else in statute? 
 
Wil Keane: 
The reason the "distributed generation system" definition was copied and not just referred to 
is because the section it copies expires by limitation at some point in the future.  
The definition in this bill is not set up to expire by limitation.  You will notice that section 6 
of the bill just refers to NRS 704.7803 because that section is not going to expire.  "Power 
purchase agreement" is a new term that does not exist anywhere else, so it is defined here. 
 
Vice Chair Bustamante Adams: 
Seeing no further questions on sections 1 through 8, we will move on to questions regarding 
sections 9 through 20. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
This is the bill I have been waiting for, and you are almost there, but not quite.  I have heard 
the word "disclosure" a lot, which is good.  Disclosure is always good.  However, when 
I view consumer protection, there has to be a significant hammer along with it.  Thank you 
for putting the language back in that was under section 20.  If there is a duty, there needs to 
be a remedy.  If I am missing something, please point it out, but as I read through this, 
my concern is I do not see the return on investment.  One of the complaints I received, other 
than getting hooked up to the grid, is people were told or led to believe they would get their 
money back within a certain period of time.  I believe there are instances where a system will 
last 10 or 12 years and the return on investment could possibly be longer than the system's 
lifetime.  Is return on investment anywhere in the bill?  I want to make sure that is disclosed 
to the consumer. 
 
Assemblyman Brooks: 
The return on investment calculation is done using variables.  The variables can be different 
for every person because some of the variables are based on a belief.  Where is inflation 
going to go or where will the cost of energy go?  That is a variable that would be placed in 
the return on investment calculation.  I think we want to try to get away from talking about 
return on investment and give the consumers only the facts.  Return on investment, based on 
a variable commodity, is an assumption and is not something that can be nailed down with 
any certainty. 
 
The three different types of business models give the consumers explicit facts on the cover 
page.  What does it cost?  What is the cost of current energy?  What is the unit price of the 
energy that will be purchased?  It forces the consumer to be able to hold these things side by 
side using just facts and not using assumptions.  I think that is where we need to move as an 
industry.  I have seen proposals where wildly unrealistic returns on investment were stated 
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using different methodologies.  I have heard people saying the cost of electricity will double 
in this state in the next five years.  That is an assumption that would then be used to come up 
with the return on investment.  It did not prove to be true, and it was not something anyone 
could state with any certainty.  Getting away from the guesswork around trying to predict the 
return on investment is where we want to go.  The business models just give the facts. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
I will respectfully disagree with Assemblyman Brooks.  I think we allow folks to extrapolate 
and exaggerate by not having something in the bill that addresses return on investment.  
You could put in the bill, based on a customer's electric bill today, math that could be done 
for one month.  Not addressing it at all leaves it open for companies to make any statement, 
and it would not be against the law.  A company could do all this disclosure, but in the 
conversation, the company could tell the customer the exact same thing you just said.  
The customer would have nothing in writing; it would only be the conversation.  That could 
be the tipping point in customers signing the contract.  We are not addressing that here, 
and there is no way—when it does not come true—for the customer to hold the company 
accountable.  In the absence of language, we have no hammer.  I am trying to figure out how 
we put a protection in the bill for that issue. 
 
Assemblyman Brooks: 
For us to put a return on investment calculation in the contract itself, we would be making 
assumptions.  We are trying to get people to get away from the assumption part of the sale 
and only deal with facts. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
By not saying anything, companies can still make that statement out loud, and there is 
nothing we can do about it.  It is a fact that consumers use so many kilowatt-hours of energy 
each month.  I do not mean to be argumentative.  I am trying to get something in the bill in 
case a customer is lied to about return on investment.  There is no guidance in the disclosure.  
Therefore, there is no hammer for customers being misled.  If we can tell customers if they 
take their bill and do the math, there is at least some kind of protection.  If the company lies, 
the customer has a hammer.  In the absence of language, there is no remedy.  I am trying to 
figure out how we can fix that. 
 
The companies will continue to tell them about return on investment.  Disclosure is great, 
but the company will have that conversation at the kitchen table with the customer about 
return on investment, and there is nothing we can do about that conversation or exaggeration 
because it is not addressed in the legislation.  I am not sure how we do that, but we need to 
give people a hammer if they are lied to.  I know you want to do the same thing I want to do; 
I am just trying to figure out how we get there. 
 
Assemblyman Brooks: 
Perhaps return on investment is not the right terminology that you are looking for to provide 
that protection.  If we put return on investment in the bill, it would require the company to 
make up information.  To calculate the return on investment for a variable asset and looking 
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at this like an investment, if customers are weighing it against their own power bill, their 
power bills change.  Basing the return on investment calculation on a power bill today is 
a false way to do it because that power bill may decrease, at which point, the return 
on investment is not as good.  The power bill may increase, at which point, the return on 
investment becomes better.  Customers have to come up with an assumption about their 
power bill.  Even using the amount on a power bill for one month, the following month may 
be higher.  A customer may use more power one year than another year.  All of those are 
variable assumptions that are plugged into the return on investment calculation.  That is 
exactly why we are trying to keep return on investment out of the conversation so we only 
deal with facts. 
 
A return on investment for something that is unknown is based on assumption.  We want to 
keep assumptions out of this because that is where we saw the biggest abuse.  Salespeople 
were making assumptions and selling them as fact.  That is when people were signing 
contracts that were bad for them.  I understand what you are trying to get at, but I think return 
on investment is not the best metric.  There has to be another metric that will provide those 
protections you are looking for, and we have tried to address that in this bill. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
We may be talking crosswise.  My husband and I looked at rooftop solar as an option, but it 
is too expensive for us and we would never get back our return on investment.  Whoever 
purchases the home after us would get the return on investment.  However, I would like 
a way to look at the return on investment as a snapshot in time.  It is not a promise of any 
type; it is a prospectus based on the snapshot in time.  If I am paying an average of 
$300 a month on electricity, that lays it out for the year in today's rates what I will save.  That 
gives me, today, what the savings would be.  That would mean the companies could not 
exaggerate what that would be.  It does not mean I could hold the company to it, but it is that 
snapshot in time where everyone is working off the same formula. 
 
I have great apprehension that if we do not say something, we could have all the disclosure in 
the world, but companies can still talk about things that are outside the contracts.  Once the 
customer shakes hands and writes the check, there is no real hammer in the bill to go back 
and hold the company accountable.  A deceptive trade practice is not exactly big litigation.  
It is hard to find an attorney to take a deceptive trade practice case.  If the companies are 
going to lie, we need to figure out a way to have a hammer for that lie. 
 
Sean Gallagher: 
I second what Assemblyman Brooks has said.  The only thing I will add is there is 
a provision in section 11, subsection 3, paragraph (r) that states, "A description of the basis 
for any estimates of savings that were provided to the lessee . . . ."  It does have to use the 
facts.  If the salesman tells customers they are going to save money, they need to show how 
they calculated that savings.  This bill does require that if there is an estimate of savings for 
the customer, the company must tell the customer how the calculation was made.  
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Assemblywoman Carlton: 
That applies to one section.  Is that paragraph used in every way people can access it? 
 
Sean Gallagher: 
I am not certain. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
I will admit I missed that one.  When I looked at the sections about when people actually 
purchase the system, I did not see it.  If it is written that way, I may not have noticed it. 
 
Vice Chair Bustamante Adams: 
Mr. Gallagher, what section are you looking at? 
 
Sean Gallagher: 
I am looking at the bill as introduced. 
 
Vice Chair Bustamante Adams: 
I am looking at the mock-up amendment. 
 
Assemblyman Brooks: 
It is section 11, subsection 3, paragraph (r) of the bill and the amendment.  There are 
three different types of products in the bill.  One of them is the sale of a product that makes 
energy.  It does not address unit prices of the energy because that is not necessarily what 
folks are buying.  In a power purchase agreement, the customer is buying units of electricity 
from a third party.  The cost per kilowatt-hour for that product is compared to the cost 
per kilowatt-hour that is purchased or made by another method.  That is where it is 
appropriate to make those comparisons.  That is the type of contract that states if the 
company is going to show a basis for savings using that product, all of the assumptions must 
be disclosed in making that basis for savings. 
 
I think that is a good catch, and that statement should live in all three of the products.  
If a company is making a statement that they are going to save customers money, 
the company needs to be able to prove how it is going to do that or at least be able to 
disclose the assumptions being used in the statement.  I believe that is appropriate to show up 
in all three types of products.  I will make a note of that, and if it does not exist, we will make 
sure it exists in all three of those products through an amendment. 
 
Assemblyman Paul Anderson: 
I am going to agree with Assemblywoman Carlton.  There needs to be some sort of 
enforcement mechanism.  The piece we were talking about in section 11, subsection 3, 
paragraph (r) needs to be a requirement in all three products.  The sales process these 
companies go through is telling customers what the savings will be and how they will get 
their money back, on top of all the other potential social aspects of solar. 
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You make some very specific assumptions in the bill that I am not sure we can even control.  
In section 9, subsection 6, for example, the bill requires the rate of any payment increases.  
That is assuming the Legislature does not change, the PUCN does not change, and the 
environment does not change any of those rates the consumer may be paying. 
 
Assemblyman Brooks: 
That is something that is in control because it is contractual.  What we are doing there is we 
are saying if there is going to be any variability in the cost of the payment on the product 
being purchased, it must be disclosed.  This is a contract between a Nevadan and a private 
business.  If there are going to be any changes in the payment in that contract between those 
two parties, it must be disclosed.  That is outside of the variability of the cost of electricity 
and other things that are outside the contract.  This statement is just about the contract 
between the business and the Nevadan. 
 
Assemblyman Paul Anderson: 
The idea is, if I were signing a contract with a vendor, the vendor must tell me what the rate 
for that particular power purchase is going to be.  It may have an annual increase, which 
many of these agreements do.  However, as a consumer, if I do not understand the other 
two or three variables you mentioned, that could affect my overall cost of energy.  I think 
that is what we are really trying to get to—to make sure the consumers understand their cost 
of energy. 
 
Hanging on that point for a moment, as we get into section 24 of the amendment where we 
are guaranteeing rights that the certainty of the terms for interconnection and treatment of 
exported energy, it is kind of going back to the same return on investment argument.  There 
are a lot of variables that are out of the consumer's control and out of the vendor's control.  
The consumer is trying to make a decision that could be a 20-year or 30-year decision based 
upon a contract with a vendor and the other variables out of the consumer's control—a PUCN 
decision, state policy decisions, changing technology.  Then, consumers are receiving rights 
in the bill that state it is their right to know what the rate is going to be and how it will affect 
them forever. 
 
Assemblyman Brooks: 
There are variables outside the control of all of us, and they affect our calculations.  If you 
were to buy a vehicle, the vehicle manufacturer has to disclose to you the miles per gallon 
under a given set of circumstances for that vehicle.  The dealer cannot determine how much 
money that is going to save you based on what you are currently driving, how many miles 
you are going to drive every year, or the cost of gasoline.  The dealer can state specifically 
what the mileage would be given a certain set of parameters.  That is what we are trying 
to do.  When I say a certain set of parameters, the intent of that statement is if a customer is 
going to enter into an arrangement with a utility, we want to make sure there is some 
certainty around those terms.  
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I will use net metering as an example.  One of the things where we got into trouble in the 
industry was net metering was not guaranteed forever.  When people signed a net metering 
agreement, that should have been known and disclosed.  Net metering was not set in stone 
forever.  What we are trying to accomplish with this bill is, before a customer enters into an 
agreement, there needs to be some certainty in the terms.  That protects the utility the 
customer is interconnecting with and the consumer who is doing the interconnection.  
If the language is vague or misleading, I am open to suggestions, but that is the intent. 
 
Vice Chair Bustamante Adams: 
I think there is room to bring that into clearer focus.  I agree with you.  When they left here 
last session, they knew about a certain rate.  That was not disclosed to the consumer.  I agree 
the language may be too broad.  We need to narrow the intent to make sure we are capturing 
it correctly.  I hear what you are saying, Assemblyman Anderson. 
 
Assemblyman Paul Anderson: 
I think it would be prudent in a disclosure to add a few sets of assumptions that would be 
typical in a sales process.  I think using the word "certainty" is tough because there really 
is no full certainty unless all the assumptions built into the agreement are known.  What is 
certain and what could be flexible outside the agreement that each party has control over? 
 
Assemblyman Brooks: 
That is a very good point you make.  What we are trying to accomplish with this bill is the 
certainty of terms.  Maybe the term is variable, but at least the consumer understands and 
knows the term is variable.  Consumers can enter into an arrangement with a utility on 
returned energy where that returned energy is going to have wildly different value depending 
on when the energy is returned to the utility.  Those values are not set in stone, but there will 
be certainty around the fact it will take place.  That is what we are trying to accomplish.  
Again, if that is vague, I am open to suggestions with the understanding of the intent. 
 
Assemblyman Paul Anderson: 
I think the intent is admirable, and I appreciate the clarification. 
 
Assemblywoman Jauregui: 
Is there a precedent for this?  Do you know if there are other industries that have these same 
types of consumer protections where they have to give disclosures in a specific font, such as 
in section 11, subsection 1, and what the written statement has to look like? 
 
Assemblyman Brooks: 
Absolutely.  I have the pleasure of sitting on both the Assembly Committee on Commerce 
and Labor with Assemblywoman Bustamante Adams and the Assembly Committee on 
Government Affairs.  I have had the opportunity to see all kinds of bills that have come forth 
that define many of the terms that go into transactions.  Those include the real estate industry,  
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the automobile industry, car loans, payday loans, and short-term credit.  All those things 
I have just recently become aware of that have specific provisions of what needs to be 
disclosed, that it can be printed on only one side of the paper in a specific font, et cetera.  
We are trying to take the Wild West and make it a much more sophisticated and standardized 
industry. 
 
Vice Chair Bustamante Adams: 
Because we will lose the connection to the Las Vegas office at 6 p.m., we are going to pause 
in order to hear those in Las Vegas who are in support of the bill.  I have three listed on the 
sign-in sheet who wish to speak.  For those of you who are in support but do not plan to 
testify, could you please stand so the sponsor has an idea of the support?  We will begin with 
testimony in support from Las Vegas. 
 
Thomas M. Dudas, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada: 
I am in support of the bill and consumer interests.  I have had a solar rooftop generation 
system on my roof since 2014.  There are a couple of items that I want considered to be 
added to this bill, which I ran into as a customer.  A lien by suppliers on the particular 
hardware was active before it even showed up on my property.  Part of what I have also 
heard from others is about warehouses full of products that they are receiving bills for.  
Because of the snafu of the PUCN last year, the products were not installed, but the 
customers are still receiving bills.  I would like to make sure that there are not liens on 
the equipment that are forced upon the property owners.  Should the equipment not be 
installed, the product may be returned at full credit, or less the freight charge, should it not 
be a problem created by some other party. 
 
The other thing is the actual connection with Nevada Power Company and its metering.  
I had a couple of meters installed, but I was not always informed of the change of meters.  
In talking to an electrician, he suggested calibration be a part of the consumer protection 
because Nevada Power Company leaves the customers somewhat hanging.  Nevada Power 
Company's out-of-the-box meter does not necessarily always come in with a uniform 
reading.  That would then put what I feel is a part for the PUCN to do random inspections of 
all meters.  It may be quite an expense, but someone needs to be riding rein besides just the 
PUCN attorneys.  They need electricians following up on what power is supplied to the home 
or what Nevada Power Company is receiving back. 
 
Renewable power systems should also be afforded the ability to be adding additional solar 
panels and/or upgrade, as the system may degrade over a 20-year period. 
 
Those are four of my issues, and I have provided them to the staff here in Las Vegas 
(Exhibit E).  

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/CL/ACL666E.pdf
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What may be outside this particular consumer issue, but I feel could be beneficial to the 
customers, is if they know who manufactured the product and what country it is from.  
I would like to propose that be part of what the supplier issues.  It should be a choice, or at 
least an acknowledgement, that it might be a Japanese manufacturer.  I do not know if you 
can see this chart, but Kyocera is a Japanese manufacturing company.  On this chart, they 
produced and sold more solar panels in Nevada than any of the other manufactures 
combined. 
 
Vice Chair Bustamante Adams: 
In order to keep the record clear, I would like Mr. Dudas to be placed in opposition.  
He actually supports the bill, but he has changes that he wants to make, and he has supplied 
those changes.  Some of that may already be covered in statute, but nevertheless, he has 
changes to the way the bill is being proposed.  Mr. Dudas, I will note that you do like the bill, 
but you have some suggested changes for the bill sponsor. 
 
James Katzen, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada:   
I have been studying passive and active solar systems for more than 30 years.  I waited for 
quite a while before the solar industry became economically feasible for me to put solar 
panels on my house.  I believe I had a 20-year contract with NV Energy to guarantee net 
metering.  I could be wrong on that and will have to look it up.  In 1979, Jimmy Carter put 
solar panels on the White House.  We have been in this process for quite a long time.  As of 
approximately August 2015, there were more than 1,500 applications per month for solar 
installations.  That has fallen to virtually zero for the very reason that the PUCN used 
a flawed two-point study to institute sanctions on the rooftop solar installations and the 
industry itself, which cost Nevada thousands of jobs. 
 
The company that installed my generating system has gone out of business.  Consequently, 
my 20-year warranty is also gone.  Hopefully, I will not have any problems and will not need 
someone to look at my system, but that could happen.  That will personally cost me money 
that I will never be able to recoup.  I will never be able to recoup the money that I was not 
paid for the energy I overgenerated for more than a year to NV Energy.  NV Energy has 
not even thanked me for giving them the energy I did provide during that time.  NV Energy 
likes to beat their chest about the fact they are only putting out 880 pounds per megawatt of 
carbon dioxide instead of 1,100, which was projected.  They give me and the other 
30,000 people who have rooftop solar no credit for helping in this situation. 
 
America is a country of individuals.  Many people want to have these installations, and many 
people can afford them.  Not everyone can afford a Cadillac, so they drive a Chevrolet.  
We need to allow the individuality in this country, guarantee it, and make it forthcoming, just 
like the dam we built in Nevada 80 years ago and have been exporting green energy from 
since 1931.  
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Vice Chair Bustamante Adams: 
Is there any further testimony in support of the bill in Las Vegas?  We did see you stand and 
would like to thank you for your attendance and participation.  We will lose the feed to 
Las Vegas at 6 p.m.  Assemblyman Brooks, would you like to say anything to your 
supporters? 
 
Assemblyman Brooks: 
It is always good to see people come from our hometown when we are in Carson City, 
especially when they are constituents, neighbors, and Nevadans who come to speak in 
support or opposition to the measures we are trying to pass.  I appreciate it, and I appreciate 
your patience and support. 
 
Vice Chair Bustamante Adams: 
We will take testimony in support from Carson City later.  At this point, we will go back to 
the sections of the bill.  Our focus is on sections 9 through 20.  Are there any other questions 
from the members on those sections? 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
This work is done by licensed contractors.  Is that correct? 
 
Assemblyman Brooks: 
Absolutely.  I believe NRS Chapter 624 defines that. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
Within NRS Chapter 624, there is a Recovery Fund available.  All contractors pay into this 
fund.  If the sponsor would consider possibly adding language to this disclosure that if there 
is a problem or an issue, the consumer knows to go to the State Contractors' Board, and that 
this Recovery Fund is available.  The Recovery Fund is found in NRS 624.470.  That way, 
if consumers do have an issue, there is not only the deceptive trade side, which could take 
a while through the court system, but they can also get compensation or relief from the 
Recovery Fund. 
 
Assemblyman Brooks: 
That is an excellent idea.  There can be three parts to this.  There could be a salesperson, 
a leasing company, and a contractor.  We need to make sure the consumer is made aware of 
those protections.  That already exists in contracts.  When contractors do construction work, 
they have to disclose that information in the contract.  These provisions should mirror that 
as well. 
 
Also, to Assemblywoman Carlton and Assemblyman Anderson's question, I was 
incorrect.  The language that says the company should disclose the methods used to 
project any savings exists in all three types of contracts.  The language exists 
in section 11, subsection 3, paragraph (r); section 14, subsection 3, paragraph (m); 
and section 17, subsection 3, paragraph (n). 
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Vice Chair Bustamante Adams: 
Section 24 is where we had some clarification and then added language on energy storage.  
Are there any questions from the members regarding section 24? 
 
Assemblyman Marchant: 
Section 24 states, "The Legislature hereby declares that each natural person who is a resident 
of this State has the right to . . . ."  I have a little heartburn with the word "right."  It kind of 
puts it equal to the Bill of Rights.  I am thinking maybe that could create a legal problem 
later.  Is there some way we could soften that provision? 
 
Assemblyman Brooks: 
The intent of this bill was to create a very rigid framework to potentially avoid 
legal problems later.  Much of what we are getting is we have different solutions to different 
problems that we propose in different pieces of legislation.  For instance, in Senate Bill 374 
of the 78th Session, we had directed the PUCN to make some assumptions.  This type of 
language is rigid enough that I think it would give guidelines to processes like that, and it 
would create an umbrella under other pieces of legislation that would try to solve some of 
those other problems.  I think not having enough strong language has created some of the 
issues we find ourselves trying to correct in this legislative session.  I am personally very 
vested in it being a right.  However, your point is well taken, and I understand the 
motivation. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
I understand where you are coming from with section 24.  I just did a little research and 
looked up rights.  There are many different types of rights, such as moral, financial, civil, 
equal, et cetera.  My concern is we are making this a blanket statement.  We know there are 
folks who cannot access this.  If they live in a mobile home, they cannot access it.  If they 
live in an apartment or a condominium, they cannot access it.  Even sometimes homeowner 
associations do not allow it.  By making this statement in this blanket way, are we giving 
a perception to folks that they can access something they may not be able to access?  
If someone asked you that question, what would your response be? 
 
Assemblyman Brooks: 
Thank you for that question because that is exactly why we worked on some of this language.  
For instance, if individuals do not own their home and do not have the ability to invest in 
solar for their own rooftop, they should still have the access through community solar or 
other methods.  If the utility has solar power and it is selling individuals that solar power, 
they have access to solar power.  If the PUCN is in a ratemaking process and looking for 
guidance on creating a tariff or a rate that provides solar to low-income individuals or renters, 
this language was intended to give them guidance and the ability to get access where it might 
not exist right now.  It was for those very reasons, for those who do not have access, that we 
are trying to put in very strong language and guiding principles that allows us to then create 
products those people can access.  That was the intent.  For instance, community solar.   
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While community solar is not clearly defined because we are working on that issue this 
legislative session, it would give solar access to individuals who do not have the ability to 
invest in it for their own property. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
How do we enforce this?  You are saying someone has something.  We will go back to a duty 
to provide it.  Is there a remedy, and how do we enforce it? 
 
Sean Gallagher: 
This is not so much about how it is enforced.  The way I think about it is if you were to 
install a more efficient refrigerator in your home or mobile home, or more efficient windows 
or lighting, you would consume less energy from the grid.  No one would argue that you did 
not have the right to put in compact fluorescent light bulbs or use less energy or spend less 
money on energy.  However, it is not so clear that you are able to put solar panels on your 
roof.  Solar panels also reduce the electricity you consume from the grid when you are 
consuming that solar power yourself.  This is more about ensuring that it is clear that 
customers can reduce their electricity from the grid.  That is not a matter of debate.  I think 
that is why we have the interconnection portion of the bill as well.  In order to do that, 
you have to be able to connect to the grid. 
 
Assemblyman Brooks: 
The way we enforce that is through other pieces of legislation.  This bill is the guiding 
principle.  It is going to be an evolving process as variables and technology change.  
The rights do not change.  The right to generate your own electricity is something we want to 
define.  How you do that and what you do that with will constantly be evolving. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
In section 24, subsection 2, there is some amended language about storage.  Is this similar to 
what Tesla, Inc. was discussing in the meeting on Monday for Assembly Bill 270?  Tesla had 
come forward and asked for something regarding storage. 
 
Assemblyman Brooks: 
I believe it is.  This is intended to say that consumers can interconnect storage as well.  
It does not say consumers have to buy the energy at a certain rate at a certain time, which 
I believe was the proposal in Assembly Bill 270.  What it says is we will look at storage 
behind the meter, storage on the load side of the consumer, as an option to achieve our goals 
through renewable energy and energy efficiency, and it is protected under this group of rights 
as well.  It does not clearly define or set rigid parameters on how that is treated; it says we 
will allow it and consumers can shape the way their load looks and store their renewable 
energy.  It is not prohibited now, but this codifies that it is allowed.  That was the intent in 
working with the energy storage industry.  
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Assemblywoman Carlton: 
For my own knowledge, once the energy is stored, can it be sold to the grid at a later time for 
a higher price?  In other words, could it be generated at one time of the day but sold when the 
price is higher? 
 
Assemblyman Brooks: 
It could.  Consumers would have to find the buyer, and the buyer could be the utility.  When 
we look at our neighboring states as we try to reach these lofty goals of renewable energy 
adoption, we have the storage issue, and we have a load issue.  If we can use energy storage 
to use less electricity when it is very expensive for our consumers and for our state and then 
possibly store it when it is very cheap, that helps us all achieve our goals.  It helps the 
individual consumers achieve their goals of cost effectiveness, and it helps the state achieve 
the goals of an enlarged renewable portfolio standard. 
 
Vice Chair Bustamante Adams: 
We will move on to the last section of the bill, section 25.  This section gives direction to the 
Office of Energy to put this information, if it passes, on the pamphlets or the Internet.  
Has the Office of Energy produced a fiscal note, or are they going to absorb it within their 
budget? 
 
Assemblyman Brooks: 
I have not seen a fiscal note on this bill yet.  I do not think the analysis is back yet.  I received 
the request for the release for a fiscal note.  This was one of the last personal deadline bills. 
 
Vice Chair Bustamante Adams: 
Are there any questions from the members on section 25? 
 
Assemblywoman Jauregui: 
Can we add a requirement to the bill that all the companies must disclose to the consumer 
that there is an energy Bill of Rights, or require them to provide a pamphlet to the 
consumer when they sign the contract so the consumer knows it exists? 
 
Assemblyman Brooks: 
That is a good idea.  Companies could be required to make or buy the proposed pamphlet and 
then provide the pamphlet with their proposal to the consumer.  That is not something that is 
completely out of line with what we currently do with contracts with consumers.  Thank you 
for that suggestion. 
 
Vice Chair Bustamante Adams: 
Seeing no further questions from the Subcommittee, I will open testimony for opposition 
to A.B. 405 first.  Is there anyone here wishing to testify in opposition?  Please be specific to 
the sections of the bill.  
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David Gibson, Private Citizen, Reno, Nevada: 
I am a Reno resident, a certified energy manager, and the founder of Powered by 
Sunshine.  I would like to start by saying I fully support the content of this bill.  However, 
there is something missing.  The cheapest kilowatt-hour is the one that is never used.  I have 
managed energy efficiency programs statewide, and I have seen another problem with past 
solar installations:  large, expensive solar arrays that have been installed on inefficient homes 
that desperately need efficiency improvements. 
 
It is important to require an energy audit prior to installing solar.  There are many homes in 
Nevada that are incredibly inefficient.  I have seen homes with large solar arrays that are full 
of incandescent lightbulbs or that have no insulation in the walls or attic.  It costs $100 to 
change all the lights in a home to light emitting diode (LED) lights.  It costs several thousand 
dollars to install enough solar to power incandescent lightbulbs.  You could never provide 
enough solar in a house to run an air conditioner in a home in Las Vegas that is not insulated. 
 
Improving home efficiency is far more cost effective for the resident than installing an 
oversized solar array.  However, solar installers make more money by installing a larger 
array, so they want to install the largest array possible. 
 
I will use my home as an example.  I bought a home in Reno that was built in 1950.  
When I purchased it, there were huge air leaks in the attic, leaks in the ductwork, and a large 
portion of the attic had no insulation at all.  When I purchased the home, the energy costs 
were $4,000 per year for heating oil and nearly $2,000 per year for electricity.  I made 
efficiency improvements that cut the home's energy use by more than half.  The efficiency 
improvements then made it cost effective to install solar and replace the oil furnace with 
a ground source heat pump.  Now, with a solar array that is smaller than the statewide 
average, my home is net zero energy and the solar provides enough electricity for the entire 
house, including heating, cooling, and charging an electric car. 
 
I have made a 12-minute documentary that shows the improvements I made to my home.  
It is available on my webpage at poweredbysunshine.org. 
 
Vice Chair Bustamante Adams: 
Mr. Gibson, can you tell me specifically what sections of the bill you are opposed to?  I know 
you support the concept, but what is it specifically about the bill you oppose? 
 
David Gibson: 
Specifically, there should be a requirement that the solar company perform a home energy 
audit, which is defined in NRS 645D.300, and that the solar company disclose any 
recommendations for efficiency improvements that are most cost effective prior to installing 
solar.  In the same way, the consumers have to know what the estimated rates are and the 
estimated return on investment.  They can also understand that they could spend half as much 
on a solar array by putting in LED lightbulbs, which would be more cost effective.  
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Fred Voltz, Private Citizen, Carson City, Nevada: 
I basically support this bill in concept.  I think it is a very good start.  I would also observe 
that it is disappointing that the PUCN has not taken the initiative on this subject.  They have 
heard many of the horror stories and complaints from consumers over several years and 
several sets of commissioners.  Unfortunately, there has been no action.  However, I do 
believe there are some major gaps in the needed protections, and I will outline those for you 
presently. 
 
Before entering into a contract, a sales process occurs.  More than a few of us have 
experienced high-pressure tactics to sign a purchase contract or lease from the solar industry 
in years past.  I believe that no one should have to endure eight additional sales phone calls 
like I did after telling a solar company no.  There needs to be an additional section before we 
even get into the protections of customers who are potentially entering into a contract so they 
are not subjected to high pressure, boiler room-type tactics. 
 
Section 10 of the bill does not require the enumeration or exclusion of any lessee 
maintenance responsibilities.  Nor are the maintenance steps and maintenance intervals of 
lessors outlined as required disclosures to lessees.  The ability of this system to generate 
electricity is going to be inherently linked to how much maintenance it does or does not have.  
Many times, these systems are installed and subsequently forgotten about.  That would seem 
to be something that should be disclosed to the potential lessee or purchaser of a system. 
 
I also see no backup plan for maintenance if the lessor's business fails, which goes to 
Assemblywoman Carlton's point about protections and hammers.  Beyond the contractors' 
Recovery Fund, which is a good idea assuming it has the resources to handle it, we need to 
deal with the defunct sales operations and equipment manufacturers, of which there have 
been many these last several years as companies come and go.  It is one thing for the 
contractors, but it is another thing if the equipment fails.  The contractor is not necessarily 
going to warranty that.  My suggestion here would be to create a surety bond mechanism or 
possibly a separate trust fund to cover warranty claims if the lessor goes out of business.  
The question then becomes who will fund these backstops, and who will administer them.  
Whether it is the State Contractors' Board or someone else, I will leave that for further 
discussion. 
 
In section 11, subsection 3, paragraph (m), there needs to be more definition for "fixture 
filing."  Typical consumers are not going to understand what that means.  That is a legal term 
and definitely impacts the purchaser or lessee's real property rights.  I would encourage 
clarification there. 
 
In section 14, subsection 3, paragraph (c), the maintenance obligation of purchasers are 
omitted and not otherwise mentioned.  The same applies in the power purchase agreement in 
section 16, subsection 2, paragraph (b).  Also, with power purchase agreements, will the 
power purchase agreement provisions be different with non-NV Energy buyers?  I am 
thinking post-2018 competition of excess electricity, particularly with regard to the 
equipment and processing of provider payments and credits.  Currently, at the PUCN there is 
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a tariff specific to net metering.  It applies only to NV Energy.  There is no provision to apply 
that to new competitors who might come into the state and provide electric service to 
residential customers and small businesses. 
 
In section 24, subsection 6, there is a great concern about saying renewable energy is the 
"resource of first choice."  We need a total calculation of costs for the state to go 100 percent 
renewable before we can prudently market this designation.  So far, the Executive Branch has 
not produced this based on known factors of technology limitations.  For the ratepayer, they 
could be facing a huge increase in costs.  We just do not know because we do not have the 
numbers yet. 
 
I would also like to make a very fine distinction here.  Return "of" investment is a very 
different concept from return "on" investment.  Return of investment suggests consumers 
will get the principle back at some point.  If individuals invest in a certificate of deposit with 
a bank, the bank and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation are guaranteeing that money 
is going to be returned to the person who invested it, plus some sort of interest rate.  Here, 
we are saying it is going to take X number of years to receive the original investment back.  
That is a very different concept financially from a return on investment, which is saying 
individuals will get the original investment back with an additional return.  I do not think we 
have done a good job in this bill of explaining the difference.    
 
I would also like to make a suggestion on the calculation of benefits.  I understand that 
assumptions have to be made when customers are considering one of these systems.  
However, financial people would be able to take kilowatt-hours used by a ratepayer or how 
much a system may generate and come up with side-by-side scenarios that should be a part of 
the proposal and the contract.  This would give customers some sort of a baseline to decide 
whether the system makes financial sense, whether they are purchasing the system, signing 
a power purchase agreement, or potentially becoming a lessee.  Someone really needs to 
know those numbers with specificity.  There are assumptions that would be made, and they 
should be listed on the proposal and/or contract so it is very clear that if all of these things 
happen, here is what customers can expect.  It is not beyond the realm of possibility.  
Financial analysts do this all the time for all types of analyses. 
 
Finally, in section 11, subsection 3, paragraph (r); section 14, subsection 3, paragraph (m); 
and section 17, subsection 3, paragraph (n), we are talking about savings calculations, but not 
when consumers will receive their original money back, which goes back to the return on 
investment and return of investment distinction.  I believe it has to be stated very clearly.  
Based on certain assumptions, this is how long it will take for consumers to receive their 
money back.  [Written testimony also submitted (Exhibit F).] 
 
Vice Chair Bustamante Adams: 
Is there any further testimony in opposition to the bill?  [There was none.]  Is there anyone 
wishing to testify in support of the bill?  

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/CL/ACL666F.pdf
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Chandler Sherman, Associate Manager, Tesla, Inc.: 
Thank you for the opportunity to speak today.  I would like to start by commending 
Chair Brooks for his leadership on energy issues, and this Subcommittee for all of your work 
on the diverse array of energy issues you have been looking at this session.  We have already 
seen other states start to look to Nevada as an example on energy, based on the work you are 
doing in this Subcommittee.  If these bills you are looking at do pass, it will make Nevada 
a national leader in clean energy and advanced energy economies, along with the advanced 
energy technologies we are advancing here in the state. 
 
I would also like to address Assemblywoman Carlton's question.  The Tesla amendment you 
heard on Monday for Assembly Bill 270 would be complementary to the Bill of Rights laid 
out in A.B. 405.  Similarly, the solar Bill of Rights in A.B. 405 complements the net 
metering and net billing tariffs laid out in A.B. 270.  The storage rights laid out in A.B. 405 
would complement the proposed tariff that would be optional for storage customers.  I would 
be happy to talk about that more if it would be helpful. 
 
To address A.B. 405 specifically, I think it would help to advance Nevada's leadership on 
clean energy in two important ways.  First, it would provide transparency and consistency 
throughout the distributed energy resource industry to protect consumers who choose to 
invest in these technologies.  Second, it would ensure that all Nevadans have the freedom 
to contribute to Nevada's clean energy economy and help make the grid more resilient by 
investing in innovative energy technologies like rooftop solar and battery storage. 
 
The rights and protections of this legislation would restore confidence for consumers and for 
the industry, and paired with the other legislation you are considering, would restore 
Nevada's rightful place as a national leader in clean energy. 
 
On behalf of Tesla, we want to support the amendments raised by Chair Brooks to this 
legislation to ensure that customers who invest in battery storage for their homes, including 
those who do not have access to rooftop solar, are afforded these same protections as 
customers who generate renewable energy. 
 
Nevada has some of the best solar resources in the country, and as the home of the 
Tesla Gigafactory, Nevada is the world leader in battery technology.  This legislation would 
enable Nevada citizens to be active participants in our clean energy future, increase Nevada's 
energy independence, and grow our clean energy economy. 
 
Kyle J. Davis, representing Nevada Conservation League: 
I do not have too much to add, and I know a lot of this has already been discussed.  We are in 
support of the bill, and we do think it is an important piece of the overall picture when we 
look at our renewable energy economy and the legislation we are all considering this session.  
We support the bill, and I would be happy to answer any questions.  
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Rose McKinney-James, representing Bombard Renewable Energy: 
I would like to add our support on behalf of Bombard Renewable Energy, as well as our 
appreciation for the bill and the concepts it brings forward.  I think Ms. Sherman specifically 
mentioned transparency.  We also believe accountability and consumer protection make 
a great deal of sense as we try to grow this industry.  The consumers who are looking 
forward to taking advantage of these resources also want to look forward to understanding 
that the contractual agreements they enter into are solid, and they are receiving clear and 
concise information as they make their choices moving forward. 
 
As you know, Bombard Renewable Energy has been actively involved in this industry for 
a number of years.  Consumer protection is of great importance to them.  Once again, 
we appreciate the bill and we look forward to working with the bill sponsor as we move 
toward advancing the measure. 
 
Vice Chair Bustamante Adams: 
Is there anyone else wishing to testify in support of the bill?  [There was no one.]  Is there 
anyone wishing to testify in the neutral position? 
 
Patrick S. Egan, Senior Vice President, Renewable Energy and Smart Infrastructure, 

NV Energy: 
NV Energy is in the neutral position.  We support much of the bill, but there are a couple of 
areas of concern, and we have had discussions with the sponsor.  We look forward to 
working with Chair Brooks going forward. 
 
I would like to cover the consumer protection portion of the bill.  I very much appreciate the 
motivation there and certainly would reiterate some of the horror stories we have heard.  
Although, I would say we have made a great deal of progress.  We worked closely with the 
industry, and we worked closely on training as well as communication across the board.  
I should say, in my roles at the utility, I have covered the metering department, the contact 
centers, the area that works with the PUCN on complaints, and the renewable generations 
programs.  In those roles, I have spent a fair amount of time talking with staff and customers 
who have had concerns.  You hear about some of the outlier cases, but again, there are 
a number of areas where we have made progress. 
 
That being said, NV Energy wholeheartedly supports the initial provisions of the bill, 
sections 1 through 19.  There are a couple of areas where I would note it might be worth 
potentially working on.  One of those areas is language.  In the renewable generations 
program in the middle of 2015, we added literature for our Spanish-speaking customers.  
We would offer that up as an area for consideration for the Subcommittee to take up. 
 
I would also note, which may get to Assemblywoman Carlton's concerns, we very much 
agree with the disclaimers and the disclosures in the legislation.  It does beg the question to 
some degree:  what is the governing body?  The PUCN is named in the definitions, but there 
is no other provision in that portion of the bill that pertains to it.  That is something to 
potentially consider going forward. 
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There are a couple of relatively small things, but just to note in section 18, the disclosure 
portion, we think it might make sense to make the disclosure directly adjacent to the portion 
of the contract that would get at utility rates.  I think that would alleviate some of the 
potential confusion. 
 
The warranty concepts currently have seven years for inverters and ten years for panels.  
I would certainly defer to the sponsor, but industry standard is generally a longer period.  
The requirement we have in the renewable generations program today is 7 years on inverters 
and 20 years on panels.  That may be a place for alignment.  We would be happy to 
share that. 
 
Much of the confusion we saw in 2015 was because there was just not as much 
communication as we both could have done with the utility in the same position.  One of the 
things we did that I think made a substantial difference was in July 2015, we required that if 
there was an installer and a customer, meaning if we were working with the installer on the 
renewable generations incentive, any communication we had with the installer also had to go 
to the customer.  If there was a permitting issue or the equipment failed the safety inspection, 
or for whatever reason there was a delay, in some cases the installer would have that 
information, but the customer might not.  It is a fairly simple communication that we 
implemented which alleviated many of the concerns. 
 
Sections 21 through 25 are the areas of some potential concern for NV Energy.  Some of 
those concerns have been covered here today.  We would certainly want to look at the energy 
storage component.  In section 24, we have a level of concern regarding the priority of 
renewable energy.  We do not quite know what that means from a resource-planning 
standpoint.  We certainly have no quibble with the reference in section 24, subsection 4 
regarding consumer protections.  In section 24, subsection 7, there is a reference to 
community solar.  It is not clear whether the consumer protection provisions in the first part 
of the bill would pertain to those areas.  Again, I know this is a work in progress, and we 
look forward to working with the sponsor. 
 
Vice Chair Bustamante Adams: 
I am actually going to change your testimony to opposition.  I know people do not like to 
testify in opposition, but you do have some concerns, and I think they are valid concerns.  
You would be in opposition, especially with section 24, and maybe sections 21 through 25 as 
well.  Do not be discouraged, it does not mean you are a bad person.  We just need to make 
sure the record is clear.  Have you had an opportunity to give the comments you made to the 
bill sponsor? 
 
Patrick Egan: 
I believe we have shared some of the high-level concerns.  I did fail to address one of the 
things that I think has already been addressed in the amendment (Exhibit C) in section 20, 
subsection 2, and the removal of the cause of action, which created some concern for us.   
  

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/CL/ACL666C.pdf
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Summerlin Energy comes to mind, where we had a fairly large installer that had several 
dozen customers who had put forward deposits.  The owner of the company died, and the 
company ended up ceasing operation in February 2015 or 2016.  That created a lot of havoc, 
so we appreciate that subsection being removed. 
 
Vice Chair Bustamante Adams: 
You are absolutely right; this is a work in progress.  Is there anyone wishing to testify in the 
neutral position?  [There was no one.]  Are there any closing remarks? 
 
Assemblyman Brooks: 
I would like to address Mr. Voltz who had some questions surrounding the descriptions of 
maintenance in the contract.  That language does show up for all three models.  In the 
amended mock-up (Exhibit C), I neglected to change the language addressing the distributed 
generation as a resource of first choice in section 24, subsection 6.  It quickly became 
obvious that is unworkable.  We want to prioritize that, but not tie the hands of any future 
ratemaking or distributed resource process.  I will definitely address those issues. 
 
I would like to thank the Subcommittee for giving me the opportunity to present this bill, 
and for all the thoughtful questions.  I would also like to thank all of the stakeholders who 
have been incredibly communicative and positive with their suggestions.  I hope I can 
continue the conversations with them and the members of this Subcommittee. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
In section 20, subsection 1, where you use the deceptive trade practice statute, I do not 
believe that gives the consumer a right of action.  I believe you have to go through the 
Office of the Attorney General or some other provision to use deceptive trade practice.  
We want to make sure the consumer has a way to go after these companies.  We will have to 
figure out a way to give consumers a right of action.  It does not sound like you are opposed 
to that, and it seems that is the direction you are going.  However, I am not sure in this 
particular area if the consumer would get to do what they would like to do to go after the 
bad actor. 
 
Assemblyman Brooks: 
I will work with Mr. Keane to try to come up with something that makes it more accessible 
to the actual end user.  All of this means nothing if there are no teeth.  That is most certainly 
the intention. 
 
Vice Chair Bustamante Adams: 
I will close the hearing on A.B. 405. 
 
[Assemblyman Brooks reassumed the Chair.] 
 
Chair Brooks: 
I will open the hearing for Assembly Bill 342. 
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Assembly Bill 342:  Revises provisions relating to renewable energy. (BDR 58-1107) 
 
Assemblyman James Ohrenschall, Assembly District No. 12: 
To my left is Michael DeLee, who is an attorney, a realtor, and is also involved in renewable 
energy issues.  To my right is William Hernstadt, who actually served in the Nevada Senate 
in the 1970s and who is also very interested in renewable energy issues.  I wish I could say 
I am half as well-versed as you are in these issues but, unfortunately, I am not.  During the 
interim, I was talking to Mr. DeLee, who broached an idea to me to try to promote renewable 
energy.  The original idea was to try and promote something called ReGen Villages.  I had 
never heard of what these were and had to do some research. 
 
ReGen Villages are communities that are able to be off the grid, be self-sufficient, 
generate their own power, and take care of their own water waste issues.  Originally, 
Assembly Bill 342 hoped to be a framework for the development of these communities called 
ReGen Villages.  It is a first step.  It is certainly not a complete framework, but it is the first 
step for possible development of small communities.  According to the bill, the communities 
would be no more than 540 premises that would be able to generate their own power, yet not 
be considered a utility under Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS).  With your permission, 
Chair Brooks, I would like to turn it over to Mr. Hernstadt and Mr. DeLee, who I think can 
explain the issues better than I can. 
 
William H. Hernstadt, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada: 
I called myself Bill Hernstadt when I was in the Nevada Senate from 1977 through 1984.  
I have owned land in Amargosa Valley before I got into the Legislature, and I have followed 
what goes on there.  I am sort of a citizen of the world now.  I am married to a Singaporean 
woman and spend a lot of time in Singapore.  There is not much renewable energy in 
Singapore because it is wet and rainy, even though it is hot.  I have two children who live in 
Australia.  My son spent ten years there becoming a doctor in Western Australia.  I mention 
that because Western Australia is like Nevada in terms of sunlight and little rain and using 
renewable energy.  They have actually had apartment complexes built that had renewable 
energy solar panels that serviced all the apartments.  We have to get on with the future, 
and the future is in renewable energy. 
 
Companies can make major decisions and major investments and think they are doing the 
right thing, but then things change.  In 1982, I rode a train with Harry Allen out to where they 
broke ground for the Reid Gardner Generating Station.  Now those coal-fired stations are all 
being taken offline.  They did not plan on that happening, but it did because of pollution. 
 
One of the other interesting things about Western Australia is they have black swans.  Some 
of you may have read the book The Black Swan.  I never knew there was such a thing as 
a black swan until I went to Western Australia.  Black swans are economic things that no one 
predicted.  When you are predicting something over a 10-, 15-, or 20-year time frame, 
it makes it difficult. 
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I still own 400 acres in Amargosa Valley, and parts of it are serviced by the Amargosa Valley 
utilities.  However, they have changed the ground rules, have wasteful spending, and they 
have raised rates unconscionably.  A few years back, I was able to get a line across the road, 
and it cost somewhere between $400 and $800 dollars.  Now they want $8,000.  It does 
not seem to be fair, but no one seems to be doing too much about it.  The people there do not 
care because they already have their line in and have their power.  However, the people who 
are coming or might come to live in that area could use this kind of thing.  This sort of 
system requires support if things break.  If you have a mini-community that is not near the 
utility lines, we should be able to establish mini-communities without being penalized. 
 
I know you are staying late, and I know what a part-time legislature is.  I appreciate your 
service.  Right now, my wife is in our apartment at Regency Towers in the same building 
I lived in in the 1970s and 1980s.  Thank you for listening. 
 
Michael M. DeLee, Private Citizen, Amargosa Valley, Nevada: 
I have had the pleasure of working with Assemblyman Ohrenschall on this issue.  I would 
first like to commend you on the bill that was just presented, Assembly Bill 405.  I think it is 
a fantastic bill, and I wish you the best of luck.  It reaches the goals I believe we are all on the 
same page with. 
 
What we are wanting to do in A.B. 342 is move forward to a more holistic approach.  When 
we started looking at it, we asked why we could not do it here.  Obviously, we could not put 
it all in one bill because of the one subject rule, and there are a lot of reasons why we could 
not approach that, and it probably would not be passed anyway.  We thought about the single 
biggest obstacle for someone to build an off-grid community that could be addressed.  There 
are things about financing that we could not do here because it has to be done in federal 
regulations.  Here, the biggest obstacle happened to be this issue which is, if there is 
something in a rural area, like where I am in Amargosa Valley or areas throughout the state, 
it is clear that people can have solar panels or renewable energy on homes.  It is not that clear 
in other states.  Again, I applaud your trying to make sure we ensure that in a Bill of Rights, 
but it is not clear that resources can be shared with neighbors without automatically 
becoming a power utility and subject to everything under NRS Chapter 704. 
 
What we want to do is create a small carveout, much in the same way as community wells, 
which are used all over the state.  We need models in a small setting, and something that 
is not too disruptive like a mega-monopoly utility to allow for experimentation where it 
would not automatically be illegal.  We reached a number that we hope is large enough to 
encourage some creative thinking.  It might be too large, and we might need to adjust 
something here and there or maybe we need some caps.  We are absolutely open to 
suggestions.  We have heard a few and what they might be.  We want to see something 
through this body.  We are not here to die on a cross.  We want something to pass this session 
that establishes the right of a regional community to exist as it relates to electric power.  
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The language in section 11 of the bill, I think, is very broad, but I will take questions on that 
section.  I look forward to your support, and I thank you for the opportunity.  Of course, 
I thank Mr. Hernstadt for the opportunity to volunteer his land to perhaps be the first such 
community. 
 
Chair Brooks: 
Are there any questions from the members? 
 
Assemblyman Araujo: 
Thank you for bringing this bill forward.  Can you help me understand this better?  What 
other states are currently allowing for this?  Could you give me an example of an instance 
where this would be applicable? 
 
Michael DeLee: 
We do not have a model from a particular state in mind, but what we are seeing is some 
states, such as Florida, are actually throwing up obstacles to this concept directly.  If people 
are in a particular utility service area, they could not even have their own solar, much less 
share it with a neighbor.  Here, at least people can have their own solar, but sharing with 
a neighbor cannot be done and is clearly in statute.  We think it is a gray area, and we do not 
want to have gray areas.  To answer your question, we do not have a model to follow.  
The ReGen Village is actually in Holland and is a Dutch model.  You can see it by Googling 
ReGen Village.  It covers all kinds of things and is way too much for us to swallow 
right now.  We just want to take a small piece of it. 
 
Assemblyman Araujo: 
I think I will follow up with the folks who typically handle the regulatory process to see 
if I can further understand how this would work in practice.  There are a lot of unanswered 
questions and a lot of doors that would potentially be opened.  I want to put that on the radar, 
and I would love to get clarification and understanding. 
 
Chair Brooks: 
The ReGen Villages model that you are proposing is for 540 people or premises.  Could you 
briefly describe what that would be and what the business model would look like?  I get that 
it is a micro grid with storage, production, and generation, and they are all interconnected, 
but what does the business model look like? 
 
Michael DeLee: 
A business model would probably be a misnomer to apply to something like this because it is 
way out in front.  It is not at all clear that this would make a business case.  I think many 
people who are living in rural Nevada, like myself, would be accused of not thinking in the 
business sense.  We prefer quality of life.  We have certain standards we want to meet, and if 
it were just all about business, we probably would not be there.  I would hesitate to say 
a business model would fit this.  Hopefully, it will at some point.  Just like when we first 
started with solar, it was $20 a lot, now we are at pennies a lot. 
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What we see in ReGen Villages from the research and from what they have in the European 
model is that it does need to be a certain size to make it function.  When you talk about 
a single home and what is put into that, you are never going to really see that back because 
you do not have the ability to share those expenses and share the technology like you would 
in a slightly larger model.  Under the current statute, it is not clear that can be done. 
 
To answer your question about a business model, I am not sure a business model could be 
applied at this point because it is premature.  What we are doing is saying people have the 
right to try and the right to fail.  There are no guarantees.  It is not a utility.  We are not 
saying we are going to do it.  It means neighbors getting together or property owners doing 
something creative, but being allowed to do it on whatever model they choose, business or 
otherwise. 
 
Assemblyman Brooks: 
I think I understand the motivation, but I will be more specific.  Would there be one company 
that would collect payments?  You used the example of a community well.  Would it be 
a trust, a company, or a corporation with members of that corporation that would be paying 
in shares, or would they be trading amongst themselves?  Would there be membership fees?  
What do you envision? 
 
Michael DeLee: 
I am probably the wrong person to be answering questions about the ReGen Villages.  
We want to enable the possibility of getting there.  It is premature.  There are all of those 
things, just like there are all of those things in utilities.  There are associations, cooperatives, 
and investor-owned utilities.  Even with people sharing a well, sometimes there is an entity, 
an actual nonprofit with a few members, and sometimes there is not.  If we need to add that 
to the bill, then we can put it in.  I do not know that we need it.  I think what we can say is 
use the language we have in the bill, and maybe add some additional language if there 
are some concerns.  Assemblyman Araujo raised concerns about the utilities, and we are 
probably going to hear from them.  We will address those concerns as we hear them.  
As far as specifics about what it is, there are many varieties under the statute, and I think all 
would apply. 
 
William Hernstadt: 
The reason I mentioned black swans is because natural gas has come down tremendously in 
price, which changed the whole economics of energy.  However, a big hurricane in 
the Gulf of Mexico could change it dramatically.  If there is some sort of an upset in the 
Middle East that drives oil prices back up to $100 a barrel, that is a black swan.  That can 
change the economics and make something like using a natural resource like sunlight in 
a place that has a lot of sunlight make great economic sense.  
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Chair Brooks: 
Are there any questions from the members?  [There were none.]  Is there anyone wishing to 
testify in favor of A.B. 342?  [There was no one.]  Is there anyone wishing to testify in the 
neutral position?  [There was no one.]  Is there anyone wishing to testify in opposition to 
the bill? 
 
Judy Stokey, Vice President, Government and Community Strategy, NV Energy: 
We are in opposition to A.B. 342 for various reasons.  We all know utilities are very 
complicated, and we have very high standards. We are concerned about safety issues, 
reliability issues, if the community would build its own distribution lines, et cetera.  There 
are many questions that need to be answered.  The bill we heard previously on the consumer 
Bill of Rights [Assembly Bill 405] is something the electric utility also has.  We would want 
to make sure that anyone who is providing an essential service like this would have some 
form of consumer Bill of Rights.  We would need to have someone who was overseeing them 
and making sure everything is being done the right way, how the rates are justified, and how 
they would handle any kind of complaint a customer would have.  We are concerned with 
this bill. 
 
Rose McKinney-James, representing Valley Electric Association, Inc.: 
I want to point out to the Subcommittee that it has come to our attention that the land subject 
to this measure is within the service territory of Valley Electric Association, Inc.  Consistent 
with Assemblywoman Bustamante Adams' guidance, I think it is important to come forward 
to articulate a couple of concerns. 
 
Most specifically, it relates to the lack of oversight.  The fact is that this is within a service 
territory where there are neighbors who could be negatively impacted by poor decisions 
where there is no oversight.  There are safety concerns that Ms. Stokey articulated, 
and a variety of other concerns relative to proximity would be the best way to state it.  This 
is obviously not opposition to advancing renewables, and it is not opposition to having 
neighbors come together to do positive things.  It is more reality-based in terms of 
having a process and a structure. 
 
Chair Brooks: 
Are there any closing remarks? 
 
Michael DeLee: 
I want to thank you for the opportunity to bring this bill.  I understand the concerns.  They 
are likely to be addressed elsewhere in statute.  I look forward to working with each of the 
utility companies to try to resolve this in good faith to bring a workable measure before you.  
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Assemblyman Ohrenschall: 
Thank you for hearing this measure.  I briefly had the chance to talk to Ms. Stokey and 
Ms. McKinney-James.  I hope there might be some common ground on this legislation.  
We cannot guarantee it, but I certainly look forward to the opportunity to work with the other 
stakeholders.  I would appreciate any input from the Subcommittee members as well. 
 
Chair Brooks: 
I will close the hearing on A.B. 342.  Is there anyone here for public comment?  [There was 
no one.]  Having no further business, this meeting is adjourned [at 6:41 p.m.]. 
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Exhibit A is the Agenda. 
 
Exhibit B is the Attendance Roster. 
 
Exhibit C is a mock-up amendment to Assembly Bill 405, dated March 29, 2017, presented 
by Assemblyman Chris Brooks, Assembly District No. 10. 
 
Exhibit D is a section-by-section explanation table for Assembly Bill 405, dated 
March 29, 2017, presented by Assemblyman Chris Brooks, Assembly District No. 10. 
 
Exhibit E is a proposed amendment to Assembly Bill 405, submitted by Thomas Dudas, 
Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada. 
 
Exhibit F is written testimony regarding Assembly Bill 405, presented by Fred Voltz, 
Private Citizen, Carson City, Nevada. 
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